6-5-2012

Davidson v. Soelberg Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39595

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Divorcing parties stipulated to a form of decree that would merge all provisions of a mediated property division, keeping them subject to modification for materially changed circumstances in the future. After pro-se husband (appellant here) had signed and handed back (to wife's attorney) the stipulation for entry of the "attached" form of decree, however, a different form of decree was substituted and attached to the stipulation for its actual presentation to and entry by the magistrate. The substituted form of decree deleted the language

"2. **MEDIATION AGREEMENT**: The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby approved and made an integral and non-separable part of this decree of divorce and"

from the bottom of the first page, leaving only the following language – at the top of the second page, which of course lay covered by the first one:

"2. **MEDIATION AGREEMENT**: The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby merged and incorporated into this decree of divorce, *except for Paragraph L which is not merged and shall remain a separate contract between the parties.*"

"Paragraph L" was a spousal support provision pursuant to which husband paid wife some \$93,000 over a span of about 42 months, by which time his financial circumstances mirrored the rest of the economy and he could no longer afford to support his own family and his ex-wife. When he moved the magistrate to terminate the spousal support obligation for materially changed circumstances, however, wife's new attorneys successfully urged the second iteration of paragraph 2 as precluding modification. Wife then sued in District Court breach of the supposedly "not merged, separate contract" to pay her \$2,200 per month for ten years, whereupon she was granted summary judgment.

Course of proceedings and disposition below.

Divorcing couple successfully submitted their property division and child custody issues to mediation, yielding an eleven-page Mediated Parenting Agreement and Property Settlement Agreement ("mediated agreement") that included a spousal support provision ("Paragraph L") benefitting wife. Thereupon, the office of wife's then-attorney presented appellant husband (who was pro se) with a stipulation for entry of judgment and decree of divorce

". . . in the form *attached* to this Stipulation."

Emphasis added. (C.R. 177) As reflected both in the wife's own affidavit in support of summary judgment (C.R. 105-128) and in husband's affidavit in opposition (C.R. 129-138), the "form attached" to the stipulation presented to, signed and handed back by the pro-se husband included the following at the very bottom of its first of two pages:

"2. **MEDIATION AGREEMENT**: The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby approved and made an integral and non-separable part of this decree of divorce and"

(C.R. 108 and 136; Appendix A hereto for convenience.) The "form" submitted by wife's counsel to the magistrate for entry, however, was *not* the above form – to which husband had in fact stipulated – but a very *different* one (C.R. 175), attached as Appendix B. In this "form," the masthead of counsel has been moved down the page several lines, resulting in the total elimination of the "approved and made *an integral and non-separable part* of this decree of divorce" language, leaving in place – on the second page – only the paragraph that read:

"2. **MEDIATION AGREEMENT**: The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby merged and incorporated into this decree of divorce, *except for*

Paragraph L which is not merged and shall remain a separate contract between the parties."

C.R. 175-176, emphasis added.

It was this changed "form" – rather than the form that *was* attached to the stipulation when husband signed it – that wife's counsel submitted to the magistrate and the magistrate entered.

C.R. 175-176; 129-138.

Husband had paid wife over \$90,000 pursuant to the spousal support provision of the mediated agreement when competition and the economy rendered him unable to continue the \$2,200 per month payments, and he quit making them. Wife (by then pro se as well) filed a "complaint" in the divorce case (CV DR 06-13448) for the arrearages and husband responded with a motion to terminate any further obligation for spousal support on the ground wife had remarried and he was financially unable to make further support payment in any event. Wife retained new (current) counsel, who voluntarily dismissed her pro se complaint. The magistrate denied husband's motion to terminate spousal support, concluding per the "stipulation," the support provision was *not* merged in the decree and that the court therefore no longer had jurisdiction to consider modification for changed circumstances. (C.R. 174, 181-183). Plaintiff wife then filed the instant suit in District Court as a separate action for breach of the putative "separate" contract.

Wife then moved for summary judgment on the ground the support provision was not merged in the divorce decree and thus was not susceptible to modification for changed circumstances. Husband opposed the motion on the ground the form of "judgment and decree of divorce" to which he had truly stipulated made the *entire* mediated agreement (including its spousal support provision) "an integral and non-separable" part of (i.e., was merged in) the

decree and thus there was no meeting of the minds as to any "agreement" to entry of a form of decree that would carve off the spousal support provision to render it impervious to modification for materially changed circumstances. Affidavit of Joseph L. Soelberg in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, C. R. 129-138.

Despite husband's affidavit and its inclusion (as Exhibit A and Exhibit B) of the two different "forms" of decree; and despite husband's explanation of the fact Exhibit A was what was attached to the stipulation when he signed it, whereas Exhibit B was what wife's counsel presented to the magistrate for entry (and which the magistrate did enter); and despite the fact even wife's *own* affidavit in support of summary judgment likewise adopted Appendix A and not Appendix B (C.R. 106, paragraph 4 and C.R. 108), the District Court nonetheless granted wife summary judgment, stating in its Memorandum Decision and Order at 3:

Soelberg does not address in his affidavit the Stipulation he signed in 2007 with the attached form that reads exactly as the Divorce Decree entered in 2007.

C.R. 188. But Soelberg *does* address in his affidavit the Stipulation he signed in 2007 and he also addresses *why* the form attached to the stipulation *by the time it was filed by wife's attorneys* does indeed read "exactly as the divorce decree entered in 2007": It reads the same ***because the form filed with the stipulation and presented to the magistrate for entry wasn't the same form as was attached to the stipulation when husband signed it.*** And nowhere did the District Court address the fact that even wife's *own* affidavit in support of summary judgment ***also*** reflects the switch (C.R. 108).

Defendant husband elected to file his notice of appeal shortly thereafter (C.R. 200-203), which became effective upon the District Court's February 7, 2012 entry of judgment (C.R. 204-205).

Statement of Facts

Inasmuch as this is an appeal from summary judgment for plaintiff wife, husband here cannibalizes the facts from his affidavit in opposition to plaintiff's motion therefor (C.R. 129-138):

During the parties' marriage, they acquired, as community property, two residences in which they had, at the time of their mediated divorce, equity of \$66,000 and \$72,000, respectively – a difference of just \$6,000. They also acquired, as community property, businesses that included an income-producing one known as The Litigation Document Group of Boise, LLC ("Litigation Document Group"), together with attendant business debt of approximately a million dollars and another business known as Las Vegas Legal Technologies, LLC, together with its attendant business debt of another roughly a half-million dollars.

As reflected in the "Property and Debt Schedule" that was part of the agreement (C.R. 119-120), the parties each received a distribution of one of the residences, with husband receiving the one with the greater equity – by a mere \$6,000. In addition to the house with the \$6,000 greater equity, husband also received the two businesses, but only with their attendant debt of fully \$1,500,000. The parties were divorced in March of 2007. Husband's income for the last full year preceding the divorce, i.e., 2006, was \$103,728. The provision for "spousal support" quoted by plaintiff in her complaint (i.e., \$264,000 over a 10-year period) was intended by the parties to equalize her community property interest in what were, at the time of the agreement, seemingly solid, income-producing businesses. Those businesses were the sole sources of husband's income.

At all times throughout the parties' divorce proceedings, wife was represented by attorney Stanley W. Welsh, whereas husband, who has no legal training, was unrepresented. At

no time did plaintiff or her then attorney call to husband's attention the fact Welsh had inserted language into the proposed Judgment and Decree of Divorce that would differ from the mediated agreement by stating "The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby merged and incorporated into this decree of divorce, *except for Paragraph L which is not merged and shall remain a separate contract between the parties.*" Emphasis added. Moreover, at no time did plaintiff or Welsh call to husband's attention any purpose they had to insert that language in order to prevent the divorce court from later reviewing the "spousal support" part of the parties' mediated agreement in light of future changed circumstances.

The Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement into which the parties entered purported, and was intended by them, to resolve all of the issues between them, including the division of their community property and the custody, visitation and support of their two then minor children. Husband understood, based on everything said by the plaintiff, by her attorney and by the mediator, that the entirety of the parties' Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement would be made effective by submittal to the divorce court for "adopting" in a judgment or decree. Review of the mediated agreement itself discloses it contains no provision whatsoever that would distinguish "Paragraph L" from the parties' intent for the entire agreement to be adopted by (i.e., merged in) the decree. (C.R. 110-120)

When Welsh's assistant presented husband with the stipulation for entry of the judgment and decree, she only said something about his addition in the form of the judgment and decree of some "minor" language to what was in the actual mediated agreement, which husband understood to mean some legal formality that would not affect in any way the substance or effect of what he had just agreed to in the mediation. Husband signed the proffered stipulation and gave it back to the assistant.

Husband believes the first page of the form of judgment and decree he was shown by Welsh's assistant when they sought his stipulation to its entry by the divorce court was the same one plaintiff herself attached as Exhibit 1 to her affidavit in support of summary judgment and it included, on its first page, the following:

"2. **MEDIATION AGREEMENT:** The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby approved *and made an integral and non-separable part of this decree of divorce and*"

(C.R. 108; 136; Appendix A) Husband does not recall whether the second page of the judgment form included the balance of the carry-over sentence at the bottom of its page one, but he distinctly remembers "knowing" that the entirety of the parties' Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement was to be approved by the divorce court and "made an integral and non-separable part of [the] decree of divorce," which was their whole purpose in submitting to mediation at all.

Nothing in what was said to husband by Welsh's assistant and nothing in the stipulation for entry of the judgment and decree called to his attention the fact that the form of judgment and decree Welsh had drawn and would present to the divorce court for entry carved off an exception to merger for the "spousal support" provision of the mediated agreement. Moreover, as set forth above, the first page of the judgment form with which husband was presented stated, specifically, that "the Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 [i.e., *all* of it] is hereby approved and made *an integral and non-separable part of this decree of divorce and,*" which conformed to what husband's understanding was all along.

In truth and in fact, however, the form of judgment and decree Welsh had drawn and would present *to the divorce court for entry, and which in fact the divorce court did enter,* is the one appended hereto as Appendix B. It differs materially from the form that was attached to the

proffered stipulation when husband signed it in that it deleted the language at the bottom of its first page (quoted above) and included at the top of its second page the following:

"2. **MEDIATION AGREEMENT:** The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby merged and incorporated into this decree of divorce, *except for Paragraph L which is not merged and shall remain a separate contract between the parties.*"

Emphasis added. It must be noted that husband does not recall whether the provision just quoted was also in the form of judgment and decree Welsh's assistant presented to him (the first page of which is Appendix A hereto), but he does know he did not notice it or attach any significance to it if it was. Husband believes and urges this is reasonable and understandable in view of the language with which the first page concluded, i.e., " the Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 [i.e., *all* of it] is hereby approved and made *an integral and non-separable part of this decree of divorce and*".

Husband thought everything about plaintiff's and his divorce, including any necessary future modifications of it, would be handled in the divorce court, and that everything in the parties' Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement was to be confirmed and adopted by the divorce court's Judgment and Decree. Husband did not notice, understand the legal import of or attach any significance to the fact Welsh had, in the form of judgment and decree he submitted to the divorce court for entry, carved off an "exception" against merger of paragraph "L" – and only paragraph L – of the Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement which, although not identified or described in any way, was the subject provision for spousal support. The judgment and decree drawn by Welsh and submitted to the divorce court for its entry, and which was in fact entered, is Appendix B.

Since the parties' divorce in March 2007, both of the litigation-related businesses received by husband pursuant to the mediated agreement have failed and dissolved, and

Litigation Document Group received a Chapter 7 discharge of its debts in bankruptcy. Other than the discharge of Litigation Document Group's debts, husband received nothing of value for his ownership thereof. He continued to make payments on the business debt of the other business, although it, too, has closed its doors and is dissolved. At or about the time of the parties' divorce, husband started a third business, known as Data One, LLC in Boise, the primary product of which was to be the provision of records scanning and archival, along with copying. Since husband's post-divorce formation of Data One, LLC, five competitors have entered the Boise market for provision of the same services, nearly eliminating its profitability. It has downsized from a business employing five or six salaried employees to just one. It is husband's sole source of income.

Plaintiff was remarried on October 10, 2010, and husband has likewise remarried. As the result of the collapse of Litigation Document Group of Boise, LLC and Las Vegas Legal Technologies, LLC, coupled with the entry of so many competitors into the market for Data One's goods and services, husband is struggling to provide necessities for his own family, whereas the businesses he received as the consideration for the subject spousal support provision have proved entirely worthless. Husband has already paid to plaintiff the sum of at least \$93,100 pursuant to the subject "spousal support" provision – *a sum that exceeds by some \$87,000 what was distributed to him* in what was understood and intended by both parties to be a roughly equal distribution of the community property. Husband's total income for 2011 through November was just \$31,193 or less than one-third of what his annual income was when the parties entered into the "spousal support" agreement on which wife sues – in District Court, as a "separate contract".

Enforcement of the "spousal support" provision plaintiff sues on works an extreme hardship on husband and on his family due to the unforeseeable failure of the businesses it was the intent of the agreement to "equalize" by means of the payments to plaintiff wife. For that reason, he wants the opportunity to persuade the divorce court, if he can, to terminate the spousal support provision "Paragraph L" due to his materially changed circumstances and the prevailing equities. Because he never had any intent to treat the spousal support provision differently than any other provision of the mediated agreement as respects its merger in the decree (and thus its amenability to continuing review and modification as justice might require), the District Court erred in finding, as a matter of law, that he so agreed. Genuine issues of material fact preclude that finding. Because the intent of Idaho's community property scheme is to maintain a more-or-less equal balance between both spouses in the event of divorce; because the "spousal support" provision set forth in paragraph L of the Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement has already yielded an \$87,000 bonus to plaintiff and because the true value of the businesses defendant received has turned out to be wholly illusory, the lower court's award of summary judgment to plaintiff wife should be reversed.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment for plaintiff wife.
2. Whether the parties' mediated agreement – in its entirety – was merged in the decree and is subject to the divorce court's review and modification for changed circumstances.
3. Whether the District Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

4. Whether the mediated agreement discloses any intent for internal integration and if not, whether the agreement evidences any contractual consideration for husband's spousal support obligation.

5. Whether husband's material change in his financial circumstances would support termination by the divorce court of any obligation for spousal support, given a void of any evidence that plaintiff isn't perfectly capable of earning a living to support herself.

6. Whether the District Court erred in its award of attorney fees to plaintiff wife.

ARGUMENT

1. Genuine issues of material fact preclude summary judgment for plaintiff.

It is axiomatic that a genuine issue of material fact is fatal to a motion for summary judgment:

The requirements of Rule 56(e) are intended to provide the trial court with sworn factual statements based on personal knowledge that are intended to be put on as evidence at trial. The Idaho Court of Appeals has held that a verified complaint alone may meet the requirements of Rule 56(e). *Camp v. Jiminez*, 107 Idaho 878, 693 P.2d 1080 (Ct.App.1984). While this Court has never had the opportunity [to] address whether a verified complaint alone meets the requirements of Rule 56(e), we hold that the heirs met and satisfied the requirements of the rule when they relied on their depositions, in addition to, the sworn contents of the verified amended complaint and the numerous exhibits attached thereto. As long as the non-moving party relies on statements that are based on personal knowledge and which would be admissible as evidence at trial and does more than rest on mere allegations or denials in his pleading, it will be considered sufficient to comply with Rule 56(e). *See* I.R.C.P. 56(e).

Even if the district court had been correct in concluding that Rule 56(e) required the heirs to submit affidavits or evidentiary matter other than those relied upon by the moving party, the requirements of Rule 56(e) would have been met for an even more fundamental reason. In *Central Idaho Agency, Inc. v. Turner*, 92 Idaho 306, 442 P.2d 442 (1968), the respondent sought to uphold the trial court's order by charging that the appellant had not complied with Rule 56(e) because of failure to submit affidavits in response to the motion. In *Turner*, we approved of

the Federal Advisory Committee explanation of the identical Federal rule and quoted the Committee saying: "Where the evidentiary matter in support of the motion does not establish the absence of a genuine issue, summary judgment must be denied even if no opposing evidentiary matter is presented." *Central Idaho Agency*, 92 Idaho at 310, 442 P.2d at 446.

This explanation follows directly from I.R.C.P. 56(e) because even without an affidavit or other "opposing evidentiary matter" presented by the non-moving party, summary judgment will not be "appropriate," as that term should be understood in the last sentence of Rule 56(e), if the motion for summary judgment fails to eliminate all genuine issues of material fact. Thus, assuming that the original pleadings raise genuine issues of material fact, Rule 56(e) indicates that the non-moving party is only required to counter the assertions made by the movant, by tendering affidavits, depositions, or other sworn statements, if the motion puts at issue the question of whether material issues of genuine fact remain. If there are any genuine issues of material fact which remain to be determined by the trial court after receiving the motion for summary judgment then by definition summary judgment is not appropriate. I.R.C.P. 56(e).

McCoy v. Lyons, 120 Idaho 765, 770-771, 820 P.2d 360, 365 - 366 (1991).

Here, wife bases her campaign for conversion of a modifiable spousal support provision into a non-modifiable "separate contract" on her sworn assertion that defendant agreed to do so:

"Joseph and I **agreed** that this provision should be treated **like** a contract. We **agreed** not to merge this provision with the divorce decree. See Exhibit 1 incorporated herewith by reference, a true and correct copy of the parties[] Judgment and Decree of Divorce."

Affidavit [of plaintiff] in support of motion for summary judgment, paragraph 4 (C.R. 106), emphasis added; accord, Supplemental affidavit of plaintiff in support of motion for summary judgment (C.R. 170). She makes this claim despite the fact **nothing** in the Mediated Parenting Agreement and Property Settlement suggests any such thing. Moreover, Exhibit 1 to plaintiff's initial affidavit itself creates an issue of fact as to this assertion because it posits by its own terms at the bottom of page one the adoption of the agreement as an "integral" and "**non**-separable" part of the Judgment and Decree. Finally, defendant's affidavit makes plain the fact he did **not** so agree and was in fact "had" by Welsh's inclusion of the "integral" and "**non**-separable"

language at the bottom of the form of judgment and decree with which he was presented for approval but which Welsh then deleted from the form he would present to the magistrate for entry:

8. At all times throughout the plaintiff's and my divorce proceedings, she was represented by attorney Stanley W. Welsh, whereas I was unrepresented. I have no legal training.

9. At no time did plaintiff or her then attorney, Mr. Welsh, call to my attention the fact Welsh had inserted language into the proposed Judgment and Decree of Divorce that would differ from the mediated agreement by stating "The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby merged and incorporated into this decree of divorce, *except for Paragraph L which is not* merged and shall remain a separate contract between the parties." Emphasis added. Nor at any time did plaintiff or Mr. Welsh call to my attention any purpose they had to insert that language in order to prevent the divorce court from reviewing the "spousal support" part of our mediated agreement for modification or termination in the event fairness, equity and justice required it in light of future changed circumstances.

10. The Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement into which plaintiff and I entered purported, and was intended by us, to resolve all of the issues between us, including the division of our community property and the custody, visitation and support of our two minor children.

11. I understood, based on everything said by the plaintiff, by her attorney Stanley W. Welsh and by the mediator, that the entirety of our Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement would be made effective by submittal to the divorce court for "adopting" in a judgment or decree.

12. When attorney Welsh's assistant presented me with the stipulation for the entry of the judgment and decree, she said something about his addition in the form of the judgment and decree of some "minor" language to what was in the actual mediated agreement, which I understood to mean some legal formality that would not affect in any way the substance or effect of what I had just agreed to in the mediation.

13. I believe the first page of the form of judgment and decree I was shown by Welsh's assistant when they sought my stipulation to its entry by the divorce court was the same one plaintiff has attached as Exhibit 1 to her affidavit in support of summary judgment and it included, on its first page, the following:

"2. **MEDIATION AGREEMENT**: The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby approved *and made an integral and non-separable part of this decree of divorce and*"

A true and correct copy is attached hereto for the convenience of the Court as Exhibit A. [Appendix A hereto.]

14. I do not now recall whether the second page of the judgment form included the balance of the carry-over sentence at the bottom of its page one, but I distinctly remember "knowing" that the entirety of our Mediated Parenting and Property Settlement Agreement was to be approved by the divorce court and "made an integral and non-separable part of [the] decree of divorce," which was our whole purpose in submitting to mediation at all.

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