Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-23-2012

Davidson v. Soelberg Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39595

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

We respectfully offer this alternative version of the Nature of the Case.

This case turns on whether a five-year old spousal support agreement is an enforceable contract; or whether it was merged into the final decree of divorce between the parties-litigant.

This question was considered by the District Court, Judge Lynn G. Norton, who issued a researched memorandum decision January 18, 2012, finding that the spousal support question could be decisively answered: Joseph SOELBERG (Appellant here) was obligated under contract to pay Annette DAVIDSON (Respondent here) \$2,200 per month for a period of ten years.

Judge Norton found that this obligation was by now a settled, separate and enforceable contract, not modifiable as a domestic support provision within a final divorce decree, and that SOELBERG was in breach of that contract.

SOELBERG appeals, on grounds that the underlying agreement was invalid, void, or voidable.

DAVIDSON responds that the District Court decided all legal standards and questions properly, and that Judge Norton's thoroughly researched decision should stand.

RESPONSIVE ARGUMENT

 The District Court's summary judgment in favor of DAVIDSON was appropriate, because there were no genuine issues of material fact.

SOELBERG persists in a troublesome conspiracy theory that he was tricked into signing an agreement that didn't represent his true understanding of the terms. Judge Norton's decision on January 18, 2012 diplomatically dispenses with this absurdity by pointing out how

SOELBERG's own businesses were highly successful legal document preparation companies, and that SOELBERG himself – although not law trained – made a successful living out of reviewing legal documents. It simply fails in credibility that he would fail to review something as important as his own pleadings and papers during his own dissolution. Beyond a failure in credibility, it is patently absurd that SOELBERG would have languished for five years without challenging the legal effect of his agreements.

SOELBERG appears to be asserting a claim that it was a mistake in contract because he signed an agreement he hadn't read or understood. Under the well-settled duty to read under the objective theory of contacts, [Ricketts v. Pennsylvania R.R. Co., 153 F.2d 757, 760 (2nd Cir. 1946) (L. Hand, Jr.); Restatement, Second, Contracts § 20, Comment d; 1 Williston § 35; see Whittier, The Restatement of Contracts and Mutual Assent, 17 Calif.L.Rev. 441 (1929)], SOELBERG would be assumed to have read and understood the entire contents of the document that constitute the agreement. However, SOELBERG asserts exceptions in this case, to avoid the traditional rule, including that the contract term was not sufficiently called to his attention as a stand-alone contract.

2. The spousal support agreement was and is an integrated stand-alone contract.

SOELBERG alleges that the integration of the contract term was not called to his attention, as an exception to the Duty to Read (*supra*). There is no such bright line rule to avoid enforcement of a contract term; except for the axiomatic "reasonable person" approach. The question is whether a reasonable person, considering all circumstances of the case, would know that such a term was intended as a separate contract. Mellinkoff, How to Make Contracts Illegible, 5 Stan.L.Rev. 418, 430-31 (1953). District Court Judge Norton provides great help to this Court in the instant appeal, because she has already conducted the reasonable person

analysis, which presents a clearer picture of reality than the convoluted explanation offered by the Appellant in this appeal. Concisely put,

In this case, [SOELBERG] insinuated fraud or misrepresentation stating that [DAVIDSON's] former counsel "slipped in" language in the divorce decree that he either did not agree to or did no appreciated, and which ultimately had a different legal effect than he now says he intended. ... [SOELBERG's] allegation of trickery is not supported by the record because he signed the stipulation with the propose divorce decree attached. Although [SOELBERG's] counsel argues about different formatting of another page 1 attached as Exhibit 1 to [DAVIDSON's] Affidavit, the draft clearly ended with the word "and" which the Court concludes shows there was more to the agreement than [SOELBERG] now claims to recall. ... Like the parties raising the issue of fraud in [McDonald v. Barlow, 109 Idaho 101, 104, 705 P.2d 1056, 1059) (Ct. App. 1985)], if there was a misrepresentation by [DAVIDSON's] attorney in this case, [SOELBERG] was not diligent in uncovering the alleged fraud or in subsequently opposing the judgment excepting support from merger with the decree. [SOELBERG] has likewise not pursued a correction of the judgment within six months (as required under reason (3) under I.R.C.P. 60(b)) or even raised this issue before the Magistrate's Court in subsequent proceedings.

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, Case No. CV-OC-20117685, Jan. 18, 2012, at 6; certain internal citations omitted, emphasis added.

SOELBERG's issue of fraud or trickery is simply invalid on its face, but fails also as an issue on appeal, because it was never part of the original challenge at the trial court.

SOELBERG's statement that Idaho law presumes that spousal support agreements are merged in the decree unconditionally misses the mark. Idaho *does* presume a merger when the decree is silent. Here, the parties' decree is *not silent*, thus, *Keeler v. Keeler* is inapplicable. Judge Norton properly identified the *Borley* case for the proper rule in this circumstance:

"The proper analysis is to look first *only* to the four corners of the divorce decree. If the language of the decree clearly and unambiguously holds the property settlement agreement is not merged, the inquiry is at an end. The Court's inquiry will move beyond the four corners of the decree to the property settlement

agreement only when the decree is ambiguous and reasonably susceptible to conflicting interpretations."

Borley v. Borley, 149 Idaho 169, at 177, 233 P.3d at 108 (2010).

The parties divorce decree is unambiguous in its language: "The Mediation Agreement dated March 9, 2007 is hereby merged and incorporated into this decree of divorce, except for Paragraph L which is not merged and shall remain a separate contract between the parties." (Emphasis added). This language is only open to one interpretation and the Court properly did not look beyond the "four corners" of the divorce decree.

Judge Norton also identified that The Supreme Court has already held in *Borley* that when,

... the court's decree is unambiguous, but mistaken, with respect to merger, the parties have an inherent safeguard in the form of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 60(a) pursuant to which a party may request the court to correct a clerical mistake. With this protection already in place, there is no reason for a court to consider the language of a property settlement agreement when there is an unambiguous decree stating that the agreement is not merged. Neither party moved to correct the Decree here, so we must assume no mistake was made.

Id. (internal citations omitted). Here, SOELBERG did not move to correct the decree, and the language stating that Paragraph L is not merged is unambiguous. A spousal support contact that is not merged in to the divorce decree is not modifiable by a court because it is a separately enforceable contract. See Terteling v. Payne, 131 Idaho 389, 394, 957 P.2d 1387, 1392 (1998) (distinguishing the express terms of a spousal support agreement from a modifiable obligation to pay alimony). Here, the spousal support agreement is a separate contract, and thus, not modifiable in the family division of the magistrate's court.

3. The District Court properly exercised jurisdiction of the contract breach.

Magistrate Judge Day properly found that the magistrate court did not have jurisdiction over the spousal support contract because it was not merged into the divorce decree, and was thus *not* modifiable in the magistrate court. The District Court then properly exercised its jurisdiction over the spousal support contract and found that it is a separate contract that is not subject to post-decree modification. The District Court properly exercised jurisdiction over this case because of the fundamental nature of the dispute is breach of contract, not a modifiable domestic support order.

4. The Spousal Support agreement was supported by consideration.

SOELBERG argues that any agreement or contract should be void for lack of consideration; however, his own attorney acknowledges in his opening brief, during his Statement of Facts, at 7, that the "provision for 'spousal support' quoted by plaintiff in her complaint ... was intended by the parties to equalize her community property interest in what were, ... income-producing businesses." SOELBERG's contradictory argument that there was no consideration is therefore not only untimely as a challenge to the underlying contract, but lacking in integrity or consistency.

SOELBERG makes alternative arguments to challenge the enforceability of the contract, should this Court affirm the District Court decision which found a valid contract. SOELBERG's theories could each be answered by competing theories of DAVIDSON to preserve the validity of the contract, including detrimental reliance; etc.

5. DAVIDSON properly withdrew her claim in divorce court because that court does not have jurisdiction to modify or terminate a separate contract.

SOELBERG mistakenly asserted that had plaintiff "chosen" to maintain her claim at the Magistrate's Court [Family Division], it would have been subject to termination for the extreme hardship that it would be on the defendant (SOELBERG). This argument is false and flawed on every level. In Idaho, a Breach of Contract claim cannot originate at the family court level. The Family Court would have dismissed plaintiff's claim as it did to the Defendant's Motion to Terminate Spousal Support that he brought on May 24, 2011. As Judge Norton noted, Judge Day did consider the issue of whether the support was merged or integrated and held that it was NOT merged into the decree. Judge Day then dismissed SOELBERG's motion for lack of jurisdiction, which is what would have happened had DAVIDSON tried to continue her claim in that same court.

6. SOELBERG makes one final flawed assertion in his Issues on Appeal: whether an attorney fee award was appropriate.

This issue, although alleged, was utterly ignored in SOELBERG's own brief.

DAVIDSON points to Judge Norton's decision, and the well-reasoned conclusion that attorney fees were properly awarded.

CONCLUSION

The spousal support contract was clear and unambiguous that it would be a separate contract that is not merged with the divorce decree. Judge Day and Judge Norton have ruled already on this issue, finding that the obligation was one of a separate and enforceable contract.

Additionally SOELBERG could have requested this to be clarified after he received the divorce decree from the court. If there was a mistake in the decree, SOELBERG had safeguards

in place to challenge it. He did nothing, missing not only a procedural deadline, but also allowing five years to pass before making any case for a change to the obligation.

SOELBERG's arguments were not raised at trial, are flat, and flawed, and give no reason to disturb the decisions of the District Court.

SOELBERG's appeal ought to be denied.